WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS
DOCKET NO. 24-419

SCA EFiled: Nov 08 2024
01:35PM EST
Transaction ID 74974092

Nick Showalter and Kelly Mattson, as Co-Administrators
of Sierra Mattson,

Appellants/Petitioners,

v.

Milbank Insurance Company,

Appellee/Respondent.

On Appeal from the
Intermediate Court of Appeals
No. 23-ICA-213

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS/PETITIONERS

JAMES G. BORDAS III (#8518)
RICHARD A. MONAHAN (#6489)
MATTHEW C. SCHREBE (#11972)
BORDAS & BORDAS, PLLC
1358 National Road
Wheeling, WV 26003
Telephone: 304-242-8410
jbordasiii@bordaslaw.com
rmonahan@bordaslaw.com
mschrebe@bordaslaw.com
Counsel for Appellants/Petitioners

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The West Virginia Intermediate Court of Appeals (“ICA”) committed reversible error in holding that the appeal by Defendant Milbank Insurance Company (“Milbank”) was the appeal of a final, appealable Order/Judgment rather than the impermissible appeal of an interlocutory, non-final Order because this Court has held that an appealable final judgment does not exist when a trial court has ruled on the party’s liability for a claim but has not yet awarded relevant damages that have been requested on such claim, including through counterclaims filed in response to a declaratory-judgment complaint.
- B. The ICA committed reversible error in reversing the trial court and in holding that the West Virginia Underinsured Motorist Statute requires that the underinsured motor vehicle must actually be involved in the collision when the statute does not contain such an express requirement. Rather, the Statute is a remedial statute that must be liberally construed so as to accomplish its preeminent public policy of providing full compensation, not exceeding coverage limits, to an injured person for her damages not compensated by a negligent tortfeasor. And, in the present case, Caleb Ratcliffe’s ownership of his vehicle insured by Erie Insurance Property and Casualty Company (“Erie”) led to Erie paying its liability coverage limits and such vehicle constituted an underinsured motor vehicle under the express language of the Statute because the liability limits were insufficient to pay all of the damages suffered as a result of the death of Sierra Mattson.
- C. The ICA committed reversible error in reversing the trial court and holding that the Milbank policy requires that the underinsured motor vehicle must actually be involved in the accident. The policy language does not contain any such requirement in clear and unambiguous terms and, to the extent that the policy language is ambiguous, it must be strictly construed against the insurer and liberally construed in favor of the insured. Moreover, to the extent that the policy language is not ambiguous and expressly requires that the underinsured motor vehicle must be involved in the accident, it is void as being contrary to the language, intent, and public policy of the remedial West Virginia Underinsured Motorist Statute.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This civil action arises from a tragic automobile collision that occurred on November 23, 2019, and resulted in five deaths, including the deaths of Sierra Mattson and Caleb Ratcliffe. Mr. Ratcliffe was driving a 2019 Hyundai Accent owned by Ms. Mattson, who was a passenger, at the time of its collision with another vehicle, and it was his negligent operation of such vehicle that was responsible for the deadly collision. (J.A. 084-089). At the time of the collision, Ms.

Mattson's vehicle was insured by a policy of insurance issued by Milbank Insurance Company ("Milbank"), Policy No. 1000332816, that provided both liability and underinsured motorists coverage provisions. At such time, Mr. Ratcliffe also owned a separate vehicle that was insured through a policy with Erie Insurance Property and Casualty Company ("Erie"), Policy No. Q08 8005268. (J.A. 031-036).

Nick Showalter and Kelly Mattson, as Co-Administrators of the Estate of Sierra Mattson ("the Estate"), made a liability insurance claim under the policy Erie had issued to Mr. Ratcliffe, and Erie paid the liability coverage limits available under Mr. Ratcliffe's policy for the separate vehicle insured thereunder. The Estate also made a liability claim under the policy issued by Milbank which Milbank paid since Mr. Ratcliffe was a permissive user of the Mattson vehicle insured thereunder at the time his negligence caused the collision in question. However, the Estate also made a claim under the Milbank policy for underinsured motorist coverage limits based upon the Ratcliffe vehicle for which Erie had paid its liability limits. (J.A. 031-036). Milbank denied this claim made by the Estate and filed a declaratory judgment action seeking a declaration from the Circuit Court of Ohio County that it did not owe UIM coverage to the estate under the facts of this case. (J.A. 001-023). The Estate filed an answer to such complaint and also filed counterclaims for recovery of the underinsured motorist coverage limits and breach of contract, unfair claims settlement practices under the West Virginia Trade Practices Act and related regulations, and first-party bad faith. (J.A. 024-045).

West Virginia Code § 33-6-31(b) provides in pertinent part: "Underinsured motor vehicle' means a motor vehicle with respect to the ownership, operation or use of **which there is liability insurance applicable at the time of the accident**, but the limits of that insurance are either: (i) Less than limits the insured carried for underinsured motorists' coverage; or (ii) has been

reduced by payments to others injured in the accident to limits less than limits the insured carried for underinsured motorists' coverage.” (Emphases added).

The UIM coverage within the Milbank Policy is contained in a West Virginia Uninsured/Underinsured Motorists Coverage Endorsement. (J.A. 108-111). According to the pertinent portion of the applicable Insuring Agreement:

- A. We will pay compensatory damages which an "insured" is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an "uninsured motor vehicle" or "underinsured motor vehicle" where such coverage is indicated as applicable in the Schedule or in the Declarations because of:
 - 1. "Bodily injury" sustained by an "insured" and caused by an accident; and
 - 2. "Property damage" caused by an accident.

The owner's or operator's liability for these damages must arise out of the ownership, maintenance or use of the "uninsured motor vehicle" or "underinsured motor vehicle".

(J.A. 108).

The Milbank Policy defines an "underinsured motor vehicle" in pertinent part as:

- D. "Underinsured motor vehicle" means a land motor vehicle or trailer of any type to which a liability bond or policy applies at the time of the accident but the amount paid for "bodily injury" or "property damage" to an "insured" under that bond or policy is not enough to pay the full amount the "insured" is legally entitled to recover as damages.

(J.A. 108).

Subsequently, Milbank moved for summary judgment contending that the Estate was not entitled to UIM coverage because the underinsured vehicle owned by Ratcliffe was not involved in the collision and because the family-use exclusion allegedly applied to also bar coverage. (J.A. 046-112). The Estate both opposed such motion and filed a cross motion for summary judgment on the basis that neither the West Virginia Underinsured Motorist Statute nor the Milbank Insurance Policy required that the underinsured motorist vehicle must actually be involved in the

collision as long as liability coverage was paid for such vehicle and such coverage was insufficient to pay the damages suffered by the insured claimant; thereby rendering the vehicle an underinsured motorist vehicle. Additionally, the Estate argued that the family-use exclusion did not apply because both liability coverage and underinsured motorist coverage was not being sought under the same policy for the same insured vehicle. (J.A. 113-132).

After the completion of relevant discovery, the Ohio County Circuit Court entered an Order on April 25, 2023, denying Milbank's motion for summary judgment and granting the Estate's cross motion for summary judgment. (J.A. 156-165.) Rather than awaiting a resolution of all claims of all parties, including a trial to determine the amount of compensatory damages suffered by the Estate in connection with its claims for underinsured motorist coverage limits and breach of contract as well as a verdict on the remaining counterclaims for unfair settlement practices and first-party bad faith, Milbank filed an appeal to the West Virginia Intermediate Court of Appeals ("ICA"). The Estate filed a motion to dismiss the appeal as being an improper interlocutory appeal of a non-final Order. (J.A. 236-258.) During the briefing of the appeal, Milbank first argued again that it did not owe the Estate UIM coverage limits because the underinsured Ratcliffe vehicle was not involved in the collision. However, Milbank did not expressly argue on appeal that the family-use exclusion also barred coverage. Rather, it argued secondly that anti-stacking language of the Milbank Policy which prohibited double payments for the same damages purportedly applied although it had not raised such argument before the Circuit Court in its motion for summary judgment. (J.A. 165-182.)

After the conclusion of briefing (*see* J.A. 165-334) and oral argument (*see* J.A. 335), the ICA on June 7, 2024, entered an opinion concluding that the appeal was not an improper interlocutory appeal and reversing the Order of the Circuit Court of Ohio County on the first

ground raised by Milbank and remanding the case for entry of an Order granting summary judgment in favor of Milbank and denying the Estate's cross motion for summary judgment. *Milbank Ins. Co. v. Showalter*, 903 S.E.2d 260 (W.Va. App. 2024); J.A. 336-352.

The ICA correctly did not address Milbank's second argument and instead agreed with the Estate that Milbank had waived such argument by not arguing it before the Circuit Court. *Milbank Ins. Co. v. Showalter*, 903 S.E.2d at 267-68, n. 10; J.A. 350-352 n. 10. Mandate was issued by the ICA on July 8, 2024. J.A. 353.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Jurisdictionally speaking, Milbank's appeal to the ICA should have been dismissed as an improper interlocutory appeal inasmuch as the Circuit Court's Order does not constitute an appealable final judgment. Courts, including this Honorable Court, have held that an appealable final judgment does not exist when a trial court has ruled on a party's liability for a claim but has not yet awarded relevant damages that have been requested on such claim, including through counterclaims filed in response to a declaratory-judgment complaint. In the present case, even if the Estate's claims for Unfair Settlement Practices and bad faith may be considered to be separate claims, the Estate's claim for breach of contract and request for damages thereunder for the underinsured motorist coverage provided by the policy is inextricably intertwined with Milbank's claim for a declaratory judgment as to such exact coverage.

As to the merits of the appeal, contrary to the holding of the ICA and the assertions of Milbank, the statutory and common law of West Virginia concerning underinsured motorist coverage as well as the provisions of the Milbank policy, itself, when interpreted consistent with accepted principles of construction for insurance policies, supports that Mr. Ratcliffe's ownership of a motor vehicle which was insured under a separate insurance policy with another insurer that

paid its liability limits for such vehicle owned by Mr. Ratcliffe rendered such vehicle an “underinsured” motor vehicle for which the Appellees were entitled to receive coverage for the policy limits of the Milbank policy for such an underinsured motor vehicle.

Simply stated, nothing contained within the language of W.Va. Code § 33-6-31(b) or in clear and unambiguous terms of the Milbank policy’s own definition of “underinsured motor vehicle” provides that the underinsured motor vehicle must actually be a vehicle involved in the accident. Rather, the key requirement pursuant to the underinsured motorist statute is that “with respect to the ownership, operation or use of [the underinsured motor vehicle] there is liability insurance applicable at the time of the accident” which is insufficient to pay the full amount the insured is legally entitled to recover as damages. W.Va. Code § 33-6-31(b); *see also* J.A. 108.

While it is likely true that in many cases, the underinsured motor vehicle will be one of the vehicles involved in the collision and the underinsured motorist’s negligent operation of such vehicle will be the basis of his tort liability for the collision, such a relationship is not expressly required under the terms of the remedial West Virginia Underinsured Motorist Statute in order for a victim to recover underinsured motorist coverage. As previously acknowledged, in the present case, there are two independent and unrelated insurance policies paying claims. Caleb Ratcliffe was an insured under an automobile insurance policy issued by Erie Insurance Property and Casualty Company (“Erie”) that provided liability coverage for the Ratcliffe motor vehicle that was located at his home at the time of the accident at issue in this lawsuit. The Erie policy paid its liability coverage limits for the Ratcliffe motor vehicle. *See* J.A. 031, 086-087. However, such available coverage limits were insufficient to pay the full amount the insured is legally entitled to recover as damages; thereby, rendering it an “underinsured motor vehicle” pursuant to the definition contained in W.Va. Code § 33-6-31(b) and the Milbank policy at issue in this case.

Indeed, it clearly fell within the Milbank policy's definition of an underinsured motor vehicle which it defines as one "to which a liability bond or policy applies at the time of the accident but the amount paid for 'bodily injury' or 'property damage' to an 'insured' under that bond or policy is not enough to pay the full amount the 'insured' is legally entitled to recover as damages." J.A. 108. Accordingly, the ICA's holding denying coverage in this case as requested by Milbank contravenes the intent and spirit of West Virginia underinsured motorist statute as well as relevant language of Milbank's own insurance policy.

Moreover, to the extent that Milbank has essentially attempted to alter the language of the statute by substituting in its insuring agreement that "[t]he owner's or operator's *liability for these damages must arise out of the ownership, maintenance or use of the 'uninsured motor vehicle' or 'underinsured motor vehicle'*" (J.A. 108 (emphases added)) in place of the statute's provision only requiring that "*there is liability insurance applicable at the time of the accident*", such alteration is inconsistent with such statutory definition of an underinsured motor vehicle and, thus, is void as being contrary to the intent and spirit of West Virginia's Underinsured Motorist Statute, W.Va. Code § 33-6-31(b).

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument is appropriate in this action under Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure as this matter involves assignments of error in the application of settled law and/or narrow issues of law. W.Va.R.App.P. 19(a)(1) & (4).

V. ARGUMENT

A. Statement of Jurisdiction and Standard of Review

1. The ICA Did Not Have Jurisdiction Over This Interlocutory Appeal.

For the reasons set forth in the Estate's motion to dismiss appeal and supporting reply memorandum, the appeal to the ICA should have been dismissed as an improper interlocutory appeal inasmuch as the Circuit Court's Order does not constitute an appealable final judgment. Courts, including this Honorable Court, have held that an appealable final judgment does not exist when a trial court has ruled on a party's liability for a claim but has not yet awarded relevant damages that have been requested on such claim, including through counterclaims filed in response to a declaratory-judgment complaint. *See, e.g., C & O Motors, Inc. v. West Virginia Paving, Inc.*, 223 W.Va. 469, 474, 677 S.E.2d 905, 910 (2009); *Hubbard v. State Farm Indemnity Co.*, 213 W.Va. 542, 549-50 & n. 13, 584 S.E.2d 176, 183-84 & n. 13 (2003); *West Virginia Employers' Mut. Ins. Co. v. Summit Point Raceway Associates, Inc.*, 228 W.Va. 360, 364 n. 5, 719 S.E.2d 830, 834 n. 5 (2011); *Erie Ins. Co. v. Dolly*, 240 W.Va. 345, 354, 811 S.E.2d 875, 884 (2018); *Kinsale Insurance Co. v. JDBC Holdings, Inc.*, 31 F.4th 870, 874-77 (4th Cir. 2022). In the present case, even if the Estate's claims for Unfair Settlement Practices and bad faith may be considered to be separate claims, the Estate's claim for breach of contract and request for damages thereunder for the underinsured motorist coverage provided by the policy is inextricably intertwined with Milbank's claim for a declaratory judgment as to such exact coverage.

This Court has held:

1. A court of limited appellate jurisdiction is obliged to examine its own power to hear a particular case. This Court's jurisdictional authority is either endowed by the West Virginia Constitution or conferred by the West Virginia Legislature. Therefore, this Court has a responsibility *sua sponte* to examine the basis of its own jurisdiction.

2. Where neither party to an appeal raises, briefs, or argues a jurisdictional question presented, this Court has the inherent power and duty to determine unilaterally its authority to hear a particular case. Parties cannot confer jurisdiction on this Court directly or indirectly where it is otherwise lacking.

3. Under W.Va.Code, 58-5-1 (1925), appeals only may be taken from final

decisions of a circuit court. *A case is final only when it terminates the litigation between the parties on the merits of the case and leaves nothing to be done but to enforce by execution what has been determined.*

Syl. Pts. 1-3, *James M.B. v. Carolyn M.*, 193 W.Va. 289, 456 S.E.2d 16 (1995) (emphasis added); Accord Syl. Pts. 1 & 2, *C & O Motors, Inc. v. West Virginia Paving, Inc.*, *supra*; Syl. Pts. 5-7, *Erie Ins. Co. v. Dolly*, *supra*.

The Court further explained in the body of its opinion:

It is, of course, axiomatic that a court of limited appellate jurisdiction is obliged to examine its own power to hear a particular case. This Court's jurisdictional authority is either endowed by the West Virginia Constitution or conferred by the West Virginia Legislature. Therefore, this Court has a responsibility *sua sponte* to examine the basis of its own jurisdiction. *Louisville & Nashville R.R. v. Mottley*, 211 U.S. 149, 29 S.Ct. 42, 53 L.Ed. 126 (1908). As occurred in this case, where neither party to an appeal raises, briefs, or argues the jurisdictional question presented, this Court has the inherent power and duty to determine unilaterally its authority to hear a particular case. Parties cannot confer jurisdiction on this Court directly or indirectly where it is otherwise lacking. Thus, it is irrelevant that the parties have not disputed jurisdiction. Accordingly, we address as a threshold matter whether there is an appealable order in this case.

Under W.Va.Code, 58-5-1 (1925), appeals only may be taken from final decisions of a circuit court. *Parkway Fuel Service, Inc. v. Pauley*, 159 W.Va. 216, 219, 220 S.E.2d 439, 441 (1975) ("*W.Va.Code*, 58-5-1, permits a party to a controversy to obtain an appeal ... when the matter in controversy exceeds three hundred dollars and a *final judgment* has been entered." (Emphasis added)). *This rule, commonly referred to as the "rule of finality," is designed to prohibit "piecemeal appellate review of trial court decisions which do not terminate the litigation[.]"* *United States v. Hollywood Motor Car Co., Inc.*, 458 U.S. 263, 265, 102 S.Ct. 3081, 3082, 73 L.Ed.2d 754, 756 (1982). The requirement of finality has been called " 'an historic characteristic of ... appellate procedure.' " *Flanagan v. United States*, 465 U.S. 259, 263, 104 S.Ct. 1051, 1053-54, 79 L.Ed.2d 288, 293 (1984), quoting *Cobbledick v. United States*, 309 U.S. 323, 324, 60 S.Ct. 540, 541, 84 L.Ed. 783, 785 (1940). Pertinent here, *a case is final only "when it terminates the litigation between the parties on the merits of the case, and leaves nothing to be done but to enforce by execution what has been determined."* *St. Louis, Iron Mountain & Southern R.R. Co. v. Southern Express Co.*, 108 U.S. 24, 28-29, 2 S.Ct. 6, 8, 27 L.Ed. 638, 639 (1883).

With rare exception, the "finality rule" is mandatory and jurisdictional. Thus, to be appealable, an order must be final as discussed above, must fall within a specific class of interlocutory orders which are made appealable by statute or by

the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, or must fall within a jurisprudential exception. It is manifest that none of the exceptions to the final judgment rule remotely applies in this case; therefore, our discussion will address only whether there is a final appealable order.

James M.B. v. Carolyn M., 193 W.Va. at 292-93, 456 S.E.2d at 19-20 (emphases added; footnotes omitted). *Accord McGraw v. American Tobacco Co.*, 224 W.Va. 211, 219-21, 681 S.E.2d 96, 104-06 (2009).

The Court further noted:

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