WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

DOCKET NO. 24-419

SCA EFiled: Dec 19 2024

01:25PM EST

Transaction ID 75270576

Nick Showalter and Kelly Mattson, as
Co-Administrators of Sierra Mattson,

Appellants / Petitioners,

vs.

Milbank Insurance Company,

Appellee / Respondent

On Appeal from the
Intermediate Court of Appeals
No. 23-ICA-213

BRIEF OF APPELLEE / RESPONDENT

William M. Harter (WVSB 7977)
Elise N. McQuain (WVSB 12253)
FROST BROWN TODD LLP
10 West Broad Street, Suite 2300
Columbus, Ohio 43215
(614) 464-1211
wharter@fbtlaw.com
emcquain@fbtlaw.com

Carte P. Goodwin (WVSB 8039)
FROST BROWN TODD LLP
500 Virginia Street East, Suite 1100
Charleston, West Virginia 25301

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Statement of Jurisdiction

The Estate asserts in its First Assignment of Error that Milbank's appeal of the Order was procedurally improper. This assertion is wrong.

The Rules of Civil Procedure permit a court to certify that an order is a final judgment as to an issue before it, even when there are other claims pending between the parties:

When more than one claim for relief is presented in an action, whether as a claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim, or when multiple parties are involved, the court may direct the entry of a final judgment as to one or more but fewer than all of the claims or parties only upon an express determination that there is no just reason for delay and upon an express direction for the entry of judgment.

W. Va. R. Civ. P. 54(b).

It is undisputed that the Circuit Court certified the Order under Rule 54(b) as a final judgment as to the insurance coverage issues involved and for the declaratory judgment:

ORDERED that pursuant to W.Va. R. Civ. P. 54(b), this Order constitutes the entry of a final judgment as to the issues of insurance coverage and declaratory judgment raised herein.

(JA 164.)

1. Standard of Review

West Virginia appellate courts review the determination of a Rule 54(b) certification pursuant to a two-prong test. First, the court will “scrutinize *de novo* the circuit court's evaluation of the interrelationship of the claims, in order to decide whether the circuit court completely disposed of one or more claims[.]” Syl. Pt. 1, *Province v. Province*, 196 W. Va. 473, 478–79, 473 S.E.2d 894, 899–900 (1996). “A judgment properly may be certified under Rule 54(b) only if it possesses the requisite degree of finality. That is, the judgment must completely dispose of at least one substantive claim.” *Hubbard v. State Farm Indem. Co.*, 213 W. Va. 542, 550, 584 S.E.2d 176, 184 (2003) (quoting *Province*, 196 W.Va. at 479 n.12, 473 S.E.2d at 900 n.12.)

Second, the Court examines whether there is “any just reason for delay.” *Province*, 196 W. Va. at 479, 473 S.E.2d at 900. For this prong, the Court “will not disturb the circuit court's assessment that there is ‘no just reason for delay’ unless the court's conclusion was clearly unreasonable, because ‘the task of weighing and balancing the contending factors is peculiarly one for the trial judge, who can explore all the facets of a case.’” *Id.* (citing *Curtiss–Wright Corp. v. General Elec. Co.*, 446 U.S. 1, 12, 100 S.Ct. 1460, 1467, 64 L.Ed.2d 1, 14 (1980)).

2. The Order completely disposed of Milbank’s declaratory judgment claim.

The Order completely disposed of Milbank’s declaratory judgment claim as to UIM coverage under the Milbank Policy. When it comes to determining whether a claim has been disposed of under Rule 54(b), “[c]laims are separable when there is more than one possible recovery,” or if “different sorts of relief” are sought.” *Province*, 196 W.Va. at 479, 473 S.E.2d at 900. (Citations omitted.)

Milbank’s Complaint seeks only a declaration as to coverage. (JA 001-023.) Notably absent from the Complaint is any request that the Court make a determination as to damages

available to the Estate under the Milbank Policy. (*Id.*) The Estate, on the other hand, did not seek declaratory relief in the counterclaims, and instead sought monetary damages for alleged breach of contract, unfair claim settlement practices and bad faith. (JA 029-043.) The different relief sought by Milbank and the Estate confirms the separability of Milbank's claim and the propriety of Milbank's appeal.

Contrary to the Estate's position, this Court has decided a declaratory judgment insurance coverage appeal when the underlying coverage decisions have been certified as final under Rule 54(b), even though the insured's breach of contract and bad faith claims remained pending. *Erie Ins. Prop. & Cas. Co. v. Chaber*, 239 W. Va. 329, 801 S.E.2d 207 (2017). This is exactly what the ICA did, appropriately, in this case.

In *Erie v. Chaber*, an insured sued its insurer for breach of contract, bad faith and declaratory relief regarding the scope of property coverage available following a landslide. The Circuit Court bifurcated and stayed all claims other than the declaratory judgment count. *Id.* at 332, 801 S.E.2d at 210. After a bench trial on just the declaratory judgment claim, the Circuit Court found that the policy in question provided coverage; entered judgment for the insured on the declaratory judgment claim; certified that judgment as final under Rule 54(b); and continued to stay the breach of contract and bad faith claims. *Id.* The insurer appealed, and this Court decided the appeal on the merits, reversing the Circuit Court's decision on the declaratory judgment claim. *Id.* at 338, 801 S.E.2d at 216. Again, this is precisely what Milbank asked the ICA to do, and what the ICA did.²

² When the Estate filed a Motion to Dismiss regarding Milbank's appeal, arguing as herein that the appeal was interlocutory, Milbank cited and relied upon *Erie v. Chaber*. (JA 262.) Given that *Erie v. Chaber* is squarely on point, Milbank finds it astonishing that the Estate has chosen to simply ignore this authority in its Brief.

Similarly, in *National Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh v. Miller*, 228 W. Va. 739, 743, 724 S.E.2d 343, 347 (2012), an injured plaintiff sued a purported tortfeasor for negligence and sued the tortfeasor’s insurer for a declaration that the insurer would be obligated to indemnify the tortfeasor. The Circuit Court entered judgment for the plaintiff on the declaratory judgment claim, finding that the insurer would have to indemnify the tortfeasor, but the Circuit Court did not enter any amount of damages to be indemnified. *Id.* at 746, 724 S.E.2d at 350. The Circuit Court did not include Rule 54(b) language. *Id.* This Court nevertheless heard the insurer’s appeal, finding that “the order is final in its nature and effect as to the issue of indemnity.” *Id.* at 746-747, 724 S.E.2d at 350-351.

The ICA relied on *National Union* in finding that it had jurisdiction to hear Milbank’s appeal. (JA 343.) And, like the ICA in this action, this Court in *National Union* reversed the Circuit Court’s coverage decision on the declaratory judgment claim and remanded the matter to the Circuit Court for an entry of judgment in the insurer’s favor. *Id.* at 748, 724 S.E.2d at 352.

Unlike *Erie v. Chaber*, the Estate at least attempts to distinguish *National Union* based on the fact that the parties therein argued that the declaratory judgment decision was immediately appealable and “thus did not bring to this Court’s attention all of the cases and respective holdings” cited by the Estate. (App. Br., 19.) The Estate’s effort is unavailing because, regardless of whether the parties agree that this Court has jurisdiction, “this Court has a responsibility *sua sponte* to examine the basis of its jurisdiction.” Syl. Pt. 1, *James M. B. v. Carolyn M.*, 193 W.Va. 289, 291, 456 S.E.2d 16, 18 (1995). “Where neither party to an appeal raises, briefs, or argues a jurisdictional question presented, this Court has the inherent power **and duty** to determine unilaterally its authority to hear a particular case. Parties cannot confer jurisdiction on this Court directly or indirectly where it is otherwise lacking.” *Id.* at Syl. Pt. 2. (Emphasis added.) Indeed,

in confirming that it had jurisdiction to hear the appeal in *National Union*, this Court found, “[T]he parties argue – **and this Court agrees** – that the order is final in its nature and effect as to the issue of indemnity.” *National Union*, 228 W.Va. at 747, 724 S.E.2d at 351. (Emphasis added.)

One of the cases relied upon by the Estate also actually supports Milbank’s position. In *Erie Ins. Co. v. Dolly*, 240 W.Va. 345, 353, 811 S.E.2d 875, 884 (2018), this Court heard a Rule 54(b) appeal of a declaratory judgment insurance coverage decision, even though the insured’s bad faith claims were still pending in the Circuit Court. The only difference between *Erie v. Dolly* and this action is that in *Erie v. Dolly*, judgment was entered on the declaratory judgment claim in favor of the insured, so the judgment included a damages award. *Id.* But, as between the Estate and Milbank, there would have never been a damages award on the declaratory judgment claim, because Milbank sought no such damages and the Estate brought no such claim. So, if hearing the appeal was jurisdictionally appropriate in *Erie v. Dolly*, the ICA hearing Milbank’s appeal was also appropriate.

In contrast to *Erie v. Chaber*, *National Union* and *Erie v. Dolly*, the Estate’s other authorities on its jurisdictional assignment of error are easily distinguishable. In *Hubbard v. State Farm Indem. Co.*, 213 W.Va. 542, 549, 584 S.E.2d 176, 183, the Circuit Court did not include Rule 54(b) certification in the subject order. In *West Virginia Employers’ Mut. Ins. Co. v. Summit Point Raceway Assocs., Inc.*, 228 W. Va. 360, 364, 719 S.E.2d 830, 834 (2011), the Court only included the fact that damages had been awarded as a part of the factual recitation rather than as the reasoning for the Court’s decision. Indeed, in *Summit Point*, the insured’s claims for bad faith and unfair trade practices remained pending in the lower court, damages unaddressed, and this Court still heard – and reversed – the insurance coverage appeal. *Id.*

Finally, the Estate’s reliance on *Kinsale Insurance Co. v. JDBC Holdings, Inc.*, 31 F.4th 870 (4th Cir. 2022) is misplaced. Although federal decisions can be persuasive to a West Virginia state court, *Kinsdale*’s import here is limited given established West Virginia procedure and the differences between reviewing Rule 54(b) certifications under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. As above, West Virginia law calls for a two-prong test that exercises different standards of review for each prong. In contrast, the standard of review as cited by the Fourth Circuit in *Kinsale* is different: “We review a district court’s Rule 54(b) certification under an abuse of discretion standard.” *Id.* at 874 (citations omitted). Given the different standards of review between West Virginia courts and federal courts, and given the decisions from this Court which are contrary to *Kinsale*, such as *Erie v. Chaber*, *National Union* and *Erie v. Dolly*, federal law is not instructive on this topic.

For the foregoing reasons, the Order completely disposed of Milbank’s declaratory judgment claim, such that the first prong of Rule 54(b) review is satisfied.

3. There is no just reason for delay to prevent the coverage decision from being considered by this Court.

In considering under the second prong of Rule 54(b) whether no just reason for delay exists, this Court examines “(1) any interrelationship or overlap among the various legal and factual issues involved in the decided and pending claims, and (2) any equities and efficiencies implicated by the requested piecemeal review.” *Province*, 196 W. Va. at 479, 473 S.E.2d at 900. In this case, justice favors permitting a final decision regarding insurance coverage declaratory relief before the Estate and Milbank engage in additional discovery and briefing, and potentially trial, on the issues of breach of contract, bad faith and unfair claim settlement practices.

It is undeniable that, if the Circuit Court’s coverage determination is reversed, the nature of the underlying matter will change. The Estate’s claims against Milbank are based on a purported

presence of UIM coverage and the resultant statutory and common law claim handling duties regarding the same. (JA 030-043.) If the Milbank Policy does not provide UIM coverage for the Estate's claim – as the ICA held – then the Estate's other claims should not be viable. This is consistent with the Circuit Court's decision to grant Milbank's Motion to Stay regarding the Estate's counterclaims pending appellate review of the coverage question. (JA 302.) Such a stay is also consistent with the approach taken in *Erie v. Chaber*, in which the Circuit Court stayed the insured's breach of contract and bad faith claims pending this Court's resolution of the declaratory judgment count. *Erie*, 239 W. Va. at 332, 801 S.E.2d at 210.

The only risk for inefficiency and inequity in this action would come from this Court refusing to consider the insurance coverage issue at this point in the litigation, as the Estate urges. The ICA has already reversed the Circuit Court's coverage decision. Even if this Court determines that that decision was procedurally premature, how is the Circuit Court supposed to address the substance of the ICA decision? On remand, will the Circuit Court have to oversee discovery, dispositive motion practice, and potentially trial on the Estate's counterclaims, all the while knowing that – at least as per the ICA – the Circuit Court reached the wrong result on the threshold question of insurance coverage? Or, will the Circuit Court have to issue a new summary judgment decision, presumably consistent with the ICA's decision, only to have the Estate re-start this appeal so that the parties are right back where they are now? Neither of those processes would be efficient or equitable.

Given that the ICA has already confirmed appellate jurisdiction and reversed the Circuit Court's decision, and given that the Estate and Milbank are already before this Court on the merits of the declaratory judgment claim, no just reason for delay exists. The most equitable and efficient approach for this Court is to resolve the substance of the declaratory judgment claim with finality.

B. Summary Judgment Standard of Review

A Circuit Court’s entry of summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*. Syl. Pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W.Va. 189, 190, 451 S.E.2d 755, 756 (1994). Conducting a *de novo* review means giving “a new, complete and unqualified review to the parties’ arguments and the record before the circuit court.” *Edward S. v. Raleigh County Housing Auth.*, 248 W.Va. 458, 463, 889 S.E.2d 31, 36 (2023).

C. Standard for Summary Judgment

Summary judgment “shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Civ. R. 56(c). “Summary judgment is appropriate where the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove.” Syl. Pt. 4, *Painter*, 192 W.Va. at 190.

D. Standard for Interpreting an Insurance Contract, Including UIM Coverage

An insurance policy is a contract, and “[d]etermination of the proper coverage of an insurance contract when the facts are not in dispute is a question of law.” Syl. Pt. 1, *Tennant v. Smallwood*, 211 W.Va. 703, 704, 568 S.E.2d 10, 11 (2002). For almost a century, the Supreme Court of Appeals has recognized, “Policies of insurance, like other contracts, must receive a reasonable interpretation consonant with the apparent object and plain intent of the parties.” Syl. Pt. 3, *Kanawha Inv. Co. v. Hartford Steam Boiler Inspection and Ins. Co.*, 107 W.Va. 555, 149 S.E. 605 (1929).

“Where the provisions of an insurance policy contract are clear and unambiguous they are not subject to judicial construction or interpretation, but full effect will be given to the plain

meaning intended.” Syl., *Keffer v. Prudential Ins. Co. of Am.*, 153 W.Va. 813, 172 S.E.2d 714 (1970). See also, Syl. Pt. 1, *Murray v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co.*, 203 W.Va. 477, 479, 509 S.E.2d 1, 3 (1998) (a court interpreting an insurance policy should give the language of the policy “its plain, ordinary meaning.”). A policy’s language is only ambiguous when it is “reasonably susceptible of two different meanings or is of such doubtful meaning that reasonable minds might be uncertain or disagree as to its meaning[.]” Syl. Pt. 2, *Murray*, 203 W.Va. at 479.

With regard to UIM coverage, “[i]nsurers may incorporate such terms, conditions and exclusions in an automobile insurance policy as may be consistent with the premium charged, so long as any such exclusions do not conflict with the spirit and intent of the uninsured and underinsured motorists statutes.” Syl. Pt. 3, *Deel v. Sweeney*, 181 W.Va. 460, 460-461, 383 S.E.2d 92, 92-93 (1989).

At the end of the day, “a court should read policy provisions to avoid ambiguities and not torture language to create them.” *Payne v. Weston*, 195 W.Va. 502, 507, 466 S.E.2d 161, 166 (1995).

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